#### No. 22-ICA-330

# IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGIO: SAM EDT

**Transaction ID 69585548** 

CIT BANK, N.A.,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,

v.

CAROLINE COFFMAN, as Administratrix of the Estate of Shirley Bowen,

Defendant/Counterclaim Plaintiff.

### From the Circuit Court of Hampshire County, West Virginia Civil Action No. 16-C-97

### BRIEF OF PETITIONER CIT BANK, N.A.

Marc E. Williams, Esquire (WV Bar No. 4062) Randall L. Saunders, Esquire (WV Bar No. 10162)

Jonah D. Samples, Esquire (WV Bar No. 13683)

Chad J. Smith, Esquire (WV Bar No. 13364)

### NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

949 Third Avenue, Suite 200 Huntington, West Virginia 25701

### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

- 1. This Court has jurisdiction over the Circuit Court's orders entered prior to November 18, 2022 because none of those orders were final and immediately appealable orders.
- 2. This Court has jurisdiction over this entire appeal because this appeal did not ripen until November 22, 2022.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred in failing to strike the jury's award of punitive damages because CIT's conduct failed to rise to the level of conduct required to assess punitive damages.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred when it awarded Ms. Bowen's attorneys' fees in the absence of bad faith, vexatious, wanton, or oppressive conduct by CIT.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred when it awarded Ms. Bowen all of her attorneys' fees on the basis of her fraudulent court record claim, which at most, permitted her to recover for attorneys' fees as to that claim.
- 6. The Circuit Court erred by awarding Ms. Bowen's attorneys' fees on a contingency fee basis, rather than an accrual basis.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### 1. Factual History

a. The Reverse Mortgage and its Requirements

On December 15, 2006, Respondent Shirley Bowen signed two notes and two deeds of trust secured by her property located at Rt. 29, Mountain View Road, Tract 2, Augusta, West Virginia (JA 0002, 0005). The parties to the first Note and Deed of Trust included Ms. Bowen and Financial Freedom Senior Funding Corporation. (JA 0012). Following a series of commercial transactions, on August 3, 2015, the entity that held the rights to the Note became a division of CIT Bank, N.A. (JA 0057).

Relevant to this action, Ms. Bowen and Financial Freedom structured the transaction as a reverse mortgage. (JA 0057, 0131). A reverse mortgage provides regular and reliable income to a homeowner in exchange for his or her forfeiture of equity in the property securing the mortgage. However, the terms of a reverse mortgage—including this one—include strict requirements for occupancy. (JA 0007, 2658-667). The Deed of Trust requires that "Borrower shall occupy, establish, and use the Property as Borrower's principal residence" after the execution of the Deed of Trust. (JA 0007, 2583). In fact, the Deed of Trust permitted acceleration of the debt if "[t]he Property cease[d] to be the principal residence of a Borrower." (JA 0008, 2584).

To ensure compliance with the occupancy requirement, CIT required annual written occupancy certifications. (*See, e.g.*, JA 2626, 2627, 2628). Though she cooperated in the first four years of the reverse mortgage, Ms. Bowen stopped submitting her written occupancy certifications in December of 2012. (JA 2631, 2632). Seeking to maintain its own compliance, CIT sent Ms. Bowen a second certification request for 2012 occupancy in January 2013 and a third request in February 2013. (JA 2632, 2634). Repeating the process for Ms. Bowen's 2013 occupancy certification, CIT sent requests to certify occupancy on December 15, 2013, January

15, 2014, and February 15, 2014. (JA 2636, 2638, 2640). On March 22, 2014, Ms. Bowen verified her occupation of the Property via telephone. (JA 2642, 2659).

History repeated itself in 2014 and early 2015. (JA 2644, 2646, 2648). CIT sent notices on December 15, 2014, January 15, 2015, and February 15, 2015. (JA 2644, 2646, 2648). This time, however, CIT did not receive any official certification of occupancy. (JA 2650). Instead, a May 14, 2015, note in CIT's system stated that occupancy itself was visually confirmed. (JA 2665). Another note on that same day states that the occupant was unknown and needed to be verified. (JA 2665).

Approximately one week later, CIT received a May 14, 2015, letter from Ms. Bowen stating, "To whom it may concern I Shirley M. Bowen still live in my home." (JA 2650). Below her signature, Ms. Bowen listed her name and 1207 Delray Rd. Augusta, WV 26704 as her address. (JA 2650). This notation set off the series of events at the center of this litigation. Specifically, after reviewing the letter, CIT deemed it an insufficient occupancy certification because the address provided did not match the Property address on the reverse mortgage. (JA 2650).

### b. Ms. Bowen's Incomplete Change of Address

During the same timeframe that Ms. Bowen stopped submitting her annual occupancy certifications, Ms. Bowen requested that CIT change her mailing address. On July 2, 2012, Ms. Bowen called CIT and requested that it change her mailing address to the Delray Road Address. (JA 2878). Beyond stating that her P.O. Box had increased in price, Ms. Bowen did not provide any additional information regarding the change. (JA 2878). During the call, CIT's representative informed Ms. Bowen that she needed to sign and return a specific form to formally request the

3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As previously noted, occupancy alone was insufficient under the terms of the reverse mortgage. *Occupancy by Ms. Bowen* was required. Thus, confirmation of occupancy by her was important.

change. (JA 2878). Six months later, on her January 7, 2013, occupancy certification, Ms. Bowen listed the Delray Road Address as that of her alternative contact, her daughter Caroline Coffman. (JA 2635). This implied that Ms. Bowen had moved in with her daughter in violation of the occupancy requirement of the Deed of Trust.

Subsequently, on March 29, 2013, Ms. Bowen completed and returned CIT's required change of address form, which listed her mailing address as P.O. Box 528 Augusta, WV 26704. (JA 2653). The form then listed the Delray Road Address as the "Forwarding address provided by United States Postal Service (USPS)." (JA 2653). Though Ms. Bowen placed an "X" in the box beside "The forwarding address provided by USPS is correct; please update my mailing address," she failed to provide a mandatory "Reason for Change," as required to ensure compliance with the Deed of Trust. (JA 2653).

CIT received the form on April 15, 2013, and marked it invalid for its failure to include a reason for the change. (JA 2653). On October 31, 2013, CIT sent Ms. Bowen a letter advising her that it could not forward her mail to an address that she had not authorized. (JA 2651). At the time of this letter, Ms. Bowen also had still not provided the mandatory "Reason for Change." (JA 2652, 2653). At the same time, CIT sent another "Change of Mailing Address" form, and again requested the "Reason for Change." (JA 2652). Ms. Bowen never resubmitted the form or an explanation for her requested change of address. (JA 2655, JA 2658, JA 2739). As a result, CIT never executed an official change of address for Ms. Bowen, and therefore sent all correspondence to both (1) the Property at Rt. 29, Mountain View SD, Tract 2 August, WV 26704 and (2) Ms. Bowen's previously designated P.O. Box, to ensure compliance with the Deed of Trust. (*See, e.g.*, JA 2638, 2640, 2643, 2644, 2646, 2648, 2655, 2739).

### c. Ms. Bowen's Failure to Pay Property Taxes

Despite her requirement to do so, Ms. Bowen failed to pay the Property's 2013 and 2014 property taxes. (JA 2662, JA 2666). This provided yet another indication that Ms. Bowen did not occupy the Property as required by the Deed of Trust. Accordingly, on May 9, 2014, CIT sent Ms. Bowen a notice of the delinquent taxes, which was returned as undeliverable. (JA 2661, 2852). To avoid delinquency, CIT paid the real estate taxes. (JA 2662). Thereafter, on June 12, 2014, CIT sent Ms. Bowen a notice for nonpayment of property taxes, which included a request to be repaid. (JA 2662, 2656, 2858). Again, the letter was returned as undeliverable. (JA 2662). Ms. Bowen did not repay the taxes at any time prior to the foreclosure sale.

In 2015, CIT sent a notice of the delinquency on the 2014 taxes. (JA 2861). Once again, CIT paid the taxes on Ms. Bowen's behalf, and once again, Ms. Bowen did not repay the amount of the 2014 taxes prior to the foreclosure sale of the Property. (JA 2864-66).

### d. The Foreclosure

Due to Ms. Bowen's failure to certify occupancy, CIT sent letters on July 29, 2015, calling the Loan due, and November 2, 2015, noticing intent to foreclose. (JA 2668-71, 2676-2679, JA 2684-2691). These letters provided additional opportunities for Ms. Bowen to comply with her obligations under the reverse mortgage. (JA 2668-71, 2676-2679, JA 2684-2691 Specifically, the July 29, 2015, letter stated that Ms. Bowen could cure the default by reoccupying the property as her principal residence within 35 days. (JA 2669). The November 2, 2015, notice likewise advised that Ms. Bowen could cure the default by moving back into the Property, completing a certification of occupancy, and providing documented proof (such as utility bills) of occupancy within 10 days of the notice. (JA 2684). Ms. Bowen again failed to certify occupancy. Again,

because of her failure to submit the required change of address documentation, CIT could not send either letter to the Delray Road Address. (JA 2669, 2684).

On February 18, 2016—based on Ms. Bowen's failure to certify occupancy—CIT foreclosed on the Property. (JA 0003, 2713). CIT purchased the Property at the sale for \$116,000 and conveyed it to Federal National Mortgage Association by a Deed of Foreclosure dated March 8, 2016. (JA 2712-13). Two days after the sale—on March 10, 2016—Ms. Bowen's daughter called CIT on her mother's behalf. (JA 2892). Four days later, CIT received a March 15, 2016, letter from Ms. Bowen, confirming both her occupancy and her intent to maintain occupancy. (JA 2727). Along with the letter, Ms. Bowen submitted her driver's license, and an electric bill, which reflected the Delray Road Address. (JA 2728, 2729).

On March 25, 2016—a week after receiving the proper occupancy certification—CIT submitted a request to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") to rescind the foreclosure sale, and HUD approved the request on April 7, 2016. (JA 2895, 2898). HUD's approval was required by the structure of the transaction, which involved two deeds of trust. (JA 2311; JA 3484-3485; JA 3521). The government held one deed of trust, while CIT held the other. (JA 2262-2271; JA 2273-2282). Therefore, and due to the terms of the deeds of trusts, before CIT could foreclose on its Deed of Trust, it was required to obtain the government's permission. (JA 2266; JA 3484-3485; JA 3521).

CIT's difficulties verifying Ms. Bowen's correct address continued. In response to a handwritten March 31, 2016, letter from Ms. Bowen, requesting a change of address—and again failing to specify the reason for the change—CIT sent an April 12, 2016, letter requesting for Ms. Bowen to "resubmit a signed change of address request with a reason for the change." (JA 2655, 2898). That same day, CIT called Ms. Bowen, but it did not receive an answer and could not leave

a message. (JA 2898). The call note confirms CIT called to obtain a reason for the requested change of address. (JA 2898).

On June 13, 2016, CIT sent Ms. Bowen another letter explaining, among other things, that it could not process the requested change of address without a stated reason for the change. (JA 2739, 2740). CIT also instructed Ms. Bowen to submit a request, in writing, providing a reason for the requested address change. (JA 2739). On June 24, 2016, Ms. Bowen's daughter called CIT and finally provided the reason for Ms. Bowen's change of address; it was a 911 change of address. (JA 2733). On that same date, CIT entered the address change into its internal system. (JA 2733, JA 2906). Thereafter, CIT directed its correspondence to Ms. Bowen to the Delray Road address. (JA 2906).

Subsequently, on December 6, 2016, CIT filed a Petition to Rescind Foreclosure Sale. (JA 2936). However, Ms. Bowen refused this remedy and continues to do so. Moreover, despite proper service, Ms. Bowen failed to answer or otherwise respond to the Petition. Accordingly, on April 12, 2017, CIT moved for default judgment. (JA 0020-23).

At the hearing on CIT's Motion for Default Judgment on June 15, 2017, the Court ordered that CIT complete personal legal service of its Motion for Default Judgment on Ms. Bowen. Thereafter, Ms. Bowen obtained counsel and filed her counterclaims. Throughout the course of the litigation, Ms. Bowen has made clear that she does not desire rescission of the foreclosure sale, and the Circuit Court has never entered any ruling either granting or denying the original Petition.

#### 2. Procedural History

On September 28, 2018, almost two years after CIT filed the initial action to rescind foreclosure, Ms. Bowen added counterclaims for wrongful foreclosure, slander of title, violation of the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act, breach of contract, tort of outrage, and abuse of process. (JA 0052-71). During trial, the Circuit Court also allowed the jury to consider an

unpled fraudulent court record claim, a statutory fraud claim that was not referenced in Ms. Bowen's counterclaim. (JA 0062-0070, 2245).

On June 16, 2021, the jury delivered a verdict on Ms. Bowen's counterclaims. In doing so, the jury found in favor of Ms. Bowen for (1) wrongful foreclosure, (2) slander of title, (3) breach of contract, (4) violation of the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act, (5) abuse of process, (6) tort of outrage, and (7) fraudulent court record. (JA 2254-57). In its verdict, the jury awarded \$200,000 for wrongful foreclosure, \$10,000 for slander of title, \$20,000 for breach of contract, \$10,000 for the violation of the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act, \$10,000 for abuse of process, \$500,000 for the tort of outrage, \$10,000 for fraudulent court record, and punitive damages of \$1,500,000, for a total judgment of \$2,260,000 (JA 2234, 2254-57).

Following the verdict and the entry of the Judgment Order, CIT and Ms. Bowen filed a total of three post-trial motions on August 27, 2021. (JA 3724-45; JA 3758-3781; JA 3823-42). CIT filed both a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law or in the Alternative for New Trial and a Motion on Punitive Damages. (JA 3724-45; JA 3758-3781). Ms. Bowen filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees. (JA 3823-42). On December 27, 2021, the Circuit Court entered an order holding the Motion for Attorneys' Fees in abeyance to allow the parties to engage experts on the issue. (JA 3968-75).

The Circuit Court issued its rulings on the motions throughout 2022. First, on May 6, 2022, the Circuit Court granted in part, CIT's Motion for Judgement as a Matter of Law or in the Alternative for New Trial. (JA 4096-4122). This ruling is the subject of the jurisdictional issue in this brief. Then, on November 18, 2022, the Circuit Court issued its order on the post-trial review of punitive damages. (JA 4359-78). In doing so, the Circuit Court recognized duplication between the jury's verdict on the tort of outrage and its award of punitive damages, and reduced Ms.

Bowen's award by \$500,000. Finally, on November 22, 2022, the Circuit Court issued its order granting Ms. Bowen's motion for fees. (JA 4379-4395). In that order, the Circuit Court awarded Ms. Bowen's counsel one-third of the jury's total award. (JA 4393).

On December 22, 2022, CIT filed its Notice of Appeal. Thereafter, on January 20, 2023, after not receiving a scheduling order, CIT filed a motion for consideration out of time explaining why the appeal was timely. CIT also explained that regardless, there was good cause for enlarging the time to encompass all appealable issues in this matter.<sup>2</sup> On February 10, 2023, this Court issued its Scheduling Order granting the motion as to the Circuit Court's November 18, 2022, and November 22, 2022 orders, but requesting additional briefing on its jurisdiction over the appeal of the May 6, 2022, order.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This litigation arose out of a dispute between the servicer of a reverse mortgage loan—CIT—and the estate of the borrower—Ms. Bowen—on that loan. However, Ms. Bowen's side of the dispute fails to recognize a key fact: reverse mortgage loans are highly regulated financial products, subject to close regulation by the federal agencies that insure them. As it relates to this case, one key component of those regulations requires servicers to ensure that borrowers on reverse mortgages continue to occupy the property that secures the loan.

As the borrower, Ms. Bowen had a responsibility to provide annual certifications of her occupancy. The sole purpose of this requirement was to ensure that CIT could comply with the aforementioned federal regulations. Complicating matters, at the same time Ms. Bowen stopped certifying her occupancy, she also provided a new address (an address she previously listed as the

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Counsel for CIT was advised by the Deputy Clerk of this Court on January 20, 2023, that a Motion for Leave to Appeal Out of Time was necessary because of concern about the timeliness of the appeal.

address of her daughter), both of which tended to suggest that she was *not* occupying the Property. Raising yet another red flag, she also stopped paying property taxes in 2014. Despite multiple attempts to obtain compliance, CIT deemed the loan to be in default and foreclosed. Thereafter, CIT offered to rescind the foreclosure, but Ms. Bowen refused; instead, she opted to prosecute the counterclaims at the heart of this appeal.

This appeal focuses on the Circuit Court's rulings in three separate post-trial orders: (1) a May 6, 2022, Order Denying CIT Bank N.A.'s Motion for New Trial (the "May 6 Order"), (2) a November 18, 2022, Order Following Post-Trial Review of Punitive Damages (the "November 18 Order"), and (3) a November 22, 2022, Order Granting Estate of Shirley Bowen's Motion for Attorney Fees (the "November 22 Order"). However, at this Court's request, this particular brief also focuses on this Court's jurisdiction to consider CIT's appeal of the May 6 Order, as well as CIT's substantive arguments regarding the errors in both the November 18 Order and the November 22 Order.

First, this Court has jurisdiction over the May 6 Order, the November 18 Order, and the November 22 Order. Because the November 22 Order was the court's only final and immediately appealable order, the appeal of that order encompasses the other two prior orders. Any other finding would vitiate the Supreme Court of Appeals' mandatory rule of finality. Moreover, because the appeal did not ripen until after July 1, 2022, this Court has jurisdiction over the entire appeal.

Second, punitive damages are not supported by the facts or the law, and this Court should strike the November 18 Order in its entirety. Specifically, Ms. Bowen failed to prove that CIT acted with the actual malice required to justify punitive damages. Indeed, the evidence demonstrated that CIT acted pursuant to both its rights under the parties' binding contract and

guidelines from the federal government. To the extent that any wrongful conduct was asserted against CIT, it was negligence in the handling of the foreclosure action, which does not give rise to a claim for punitive damages.

Finally, neither the law nor equity entitles Ms. Bowen to her attorneys' fees, and this Court should strike the November 22 Order in its entirety. Put simply, the trial court's order awarding attorneys' fees violates more than two centuries of jurisprudence set out in the American Rule: parties are not entitled to recover attorneys' fees as a prevailing party in the absence of a statutory provision that provides for such recovery, or in circumstances where egregious misconduct of counsel, or a party, is present. Ms. Bowen is not entitled to an equitable award where she has failed to prove that CIT acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or oppressively. For that reason alone, an award of attorney's fees is unjustified as a matter of law. The court also erred to the extent it awarded attorneys' fees based on Ms. Bowen's fraudulent court record claim. Any collection of fees on that basis is limited solely to work performed in pursuit of that claim.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

CIT states that oral argument is necessary pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Further, CIT contends that this case is appropriate for Rule 19 argument because it concerns assignments of error in the application of settled law. CIT also states that this case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

Finally, CIT requests that this Court affirm that the full appeal is timely and that it has jurisdiction over this appeal. Once those issues are decided, CIT requests that this Court order briefing on the errors arising from the May 6 Order.

### **ARGUMENT**

### 1. Standard of Review

An appellate court has a responsibility to review its jurisdiction *sua sponte*. *Moten v*. *Stump*, 220 W. Va. 652, 655, 648 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2007). "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." *In re H.W.*, 247 W. Va. 109, 875 S.E.2d 247, 252 (2022) (quotation omitted).

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