IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA DOCKET NO. 22-ICA-330

CIT BANK, N.A,

ICA EFiled: May 04 2023

04:04PM EDT

Transaction ID 69956101

Plaintiff / Counterclaim Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

Appeal from order of the Circuit Court of Hampshire County Civil Action No. 16-C-97

CAROLINE COFFMAN, as Administratrix of the Estate of Shirley Bowen,

Defendant / Counterclaim Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Submitted on behalf of Respondent,

Caroline Coffman, Administratrix of the Estate of Shirley Bowen, by:

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

CIT argues, in its brief, that the Estate's counsel was responsible for researching the law. CIT's contention is deceiving because, throughout the pre-trial proceedings, CIT and its expert indicated that CIT was relying upon a HUD regulation as a basis to claim that Ms. Bowen was required to file a certificate of occupancy. Ms. Bowen was entitled to the information as the basis of CIT's expert's opinion under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 26. The Estate's counsel combed through the Code of Federal Regulations governing HUD. The Estate could not locate any such regulation because, as the Estate later discovered, no such regulation exists. The Estate, on numerous occasions, inquired about a copy of the regulation or a citation. CIT intentionally misled the Estate, the lower court, and the jury with regard to the purported HUD regulation, as the HUD guideline was not a regulation and not applicable to the public and Ms. Bowen.

CIT's misrepresentations to the jury necessitated that the lower court to read a curative instruction. (J.A. 2211). Presumably recognizing its improper conduct, CIT did not object to the lower court's instruction. CIT's trial conduct, as set forth in the lower court's careful analysis, further supports an award of attorney fees under *Sally-Mike*.

CIT's policy argument that the attorney-fee award will vitiate the American rule is without merit. CIT's pre-trial conduct and its conduct in connection with the litigation provided a proper basis for a fee award. CIT hid inculpatory evidence demonstrating its lie that it was unaware whether Ms. Bowen resided in her home or the reason for her change of address; and CIT made misrepresentations to the lower court and the jury by presenting a HUD guideline as a regulation.

Affirmance of the lower court's award of attorney fees and costs will not vitiate the American rule. Rather the lower court's fee award fits the parameters set forth in *Sally-Mike* of deterring litigants from acting in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, and for oppressive reasons.

The lower court's award of attorney fees and expenses does not conflict with *Boyd v. Goffoli*, 216 W.Va. 552, 569 608 S.E.2d 169, 186 (2004). CIT's reliance upon *Boyd* to argue that the punitive damage award offsets or cancels out an award of attorney fees is misplaced. In *Boyd*, the Court held that an award of attorney fees is within the discretion of the trial court. The Court ultimately upheld the trial court's discretionary decision not awarding attorney fees in the case.

In other cases, however, the West Virginia Supreme Court has approved an attorney fee award in addition to punitive damage award. *See e.g. Capper v. Gates*, 193 W. Va. 9, 454 S.E.2d 54 (1994); *Persinger v. Peabody Coal Co.*, 196 W. Va. 707, 474 S.E.2d 887 (1996); Syl. Pt. 4 *Bowling v. Ansted Chrysler-Plymouth-Dodge, Inc.*, 188 W. Va. 468, 425 S.E.2d 144 (1992). The cases make clear that an award of attorney fees is within the lower court's discretion.

Because CIT acted in bad faith, and for vexatious, wanton, and oppressive reasons, both in its conduct leading to the litigation and the conduct in connection with the litigation, because the lower court's award will deter litigants from acting in bad faith, and because the lower court acted within its discretion in making the fee award, the Estate respectfully requests that this Court affirm the lower court's award of attorney fees and costs.

c. In addition to the lower court's thorough analysis of CIT's bad faith, vexatious, wanton, and oppressive conduct, the lower court's award of attorney fees and expenses was also supported by statute under W. Va. Code § 38-6-501.

Ms. Bowen prevailed on each of her claims, which included a claim for fraudulent court record under W. Va. Code § 38-16-501. Under the statute, a prevailing party is entitled to an award of fees and expenses. The lower court noted the statute as an additional basis for a fee award.

In its analysis, the lower court briefly referenced the fraudulent court record claim as one of many factors supporting the award of fees and expenses. The lower court placed much more weight on CIT's bad faith, vexatious, wanton and oppressive conduct than it did on the fraudulent court record claim. The lower court set forth a detailed analysis, including six pages of detailed findings of CIT's bad faith and vexatious, wanton, and oppressive conduct. Only one sentence in the entire sixteen-page order references the fraudulent court record claim. (J.A. 4379).

The fraudulent court record claim also supported the fee award. Therefore, the Estate respectfully requests that this Court affirm the lower court's award in its entirety.

d. After detailed and thorough review of the *Pitrolo* factors, the lower court exercised proper discretion in assessing the amount of attorney fees, which took into account the extensive work, risk, results, and other considerations.

The lower court carefully reviewed the evidence in light of the multi-faceted *Pitrolo* factors, which is set forth at page 10 of the *Order Granting Shirley Bowen's Motion* for *Attorney Fees*. The lower court did not limit its consideration to the contingent fee agreement between Ms. Bowen and her counsel as a basis for the amount of the attorney fees.

The *Order Granting Shirley Bowen's Motion for Attorney Fees* details the lower court's consideration of the necessary elements in *Pitrolo*. (J.A. 4379). The lower court determined that Ms. Bowen had been unable to pay for hourly representation, and that she was unable get other counsel. The lower court's order notes, among others, that 1) the litigation spanned four years, 2) the time and labor involved was substantial, 3) since July of 2017, approximately seventy (70) motions and/or responses to motions were filed in the case, 4) there were approximately thirteen (13) substantive hearings with briefing, and 5) counsel had spent approximately 1,411 hours in the case at the time of filing the motion for attorney fees and expenses.

The lower court similarly reviewed the other *Pitrolo* factors finding that counsel had to analyze and simplify thousands of pages of discovery for presentation to the jury, employ experts, travel to depositions in Charleston, Romney, and Martinsburg, West Virginia. The lower court also noted that substantial trial preparation and skill were required to effectively present this case to the jury. Both law offices of Ms. Bowen's counsel are small offices, the lower court noted, so that the work necessarily precluded other employment.

The lower court found that, due to Ms. Bowen's financial position compared to CIT, it was unlikely Ms. Bowen could employ counsel and that a contingent fee was customary in such situations. The Court went on to note the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyers as well as the undesirability of the case. Ms. Bowen was unable to pay counsel out of personal funds and counsel expended more than \$30,000.00 in costs.

The lower court, after giving careful consideration to all the *Pitrolo* factors, reviewed the amount involved and the results obtained and concluded that a fee of one-third of the total recovery was reasonable. CIT's argument that awarding attorney fees that exceeds counsels' regular hourly rates is unfair fails to account for CIT's bad faith conduct leading up to and during this litigation. The argument also fails to account for the delay and risk counsel have been compelled to endure in their successful representation of Ms. Bowen. Even a cursory review of the lower court's sixteen-page *Order Granting Shirley Bowen's Motion for Attorney Fees* demonstrates that the lower court correctly and carefully reviewed the evidence in light of the *Pitrolo* factors; the lower court did not solely base its decision on the contingent fee agreement.

CIT argues that the lower court's reference to *Hayseeds, Inc. vs. State Farm Fire & Cas.*, 177 W.Va. 523, 352 S.E.2d 77 (1986) was misplaced because it applies to protecting an insurance policy holder who buys peace of mind and security, not financial gain or to be embroiled in

litigation, citing *Miller v. Fluharty*, 201 W.Va. citing 685, 594, 500 S.E.2d 310, 319 (1997). The analogy to this case is obvious: Ms. Bowen entered into her reverse mortgage for peace of mind and security, not for financial gain or to be embroiled in litigation.

Furthermore, the one-third contingency fee is commonly recognized as a normal, oftenused fee arrangement. In a recent federal district court case, Judge Berger wrote, "Both state and federal courts in West Virginia recognize the presumptive reasonableness of an attorneys' fee equal to one-third of a recovery." *Cox v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co.*, No. 5:16-CV-10501, 2019 WL 164814, at *5 (S.D.W. Va. Jan. 10, 2019). In *F. S. & P. Coal Co. vs. Inter-Mountain Coals*, 179 W.Va. 190, 194, 366 S.E.2d 638, 642 (1988), the Supreme Court approved the Circuit Court's reduction of an attorney fee from fifty percent "to 33 1/3 percent – the going rate for contingency awards in Nicholas County." Similarly, in *Erickson Constr. Co., Inc. v. Morey*, 923 F. Supp. 878, 881 (S. D. W. Va. 1996), (a dispute over an equipment supply contract, breach of warranty and fraud), Judge Haden wrote: "The Court notes a one-third contingency fee is presumptively reasonable in West Virginia. *See Hayseeds, Inc. v. State Farm Fire & Cas.*, 177 W.Va. 323, 352 S.E. 2d 73, 80 (1986). Nevertheless, a forty percent (40%) contingency fee is a common fee contract provision for cases that proceed to trial."

The amount of the lower court's assessment of attorney fees is reasonable under *Pitrolo*. "The trial court is vested with wide discretion with determining the amount of court costs and counsel fees" *Hollen v. Hathaway Electric, Inc.*, 213 W.Va. 667, 584 S.E.2d 523 (2005) (*per curiam*). The appellate courts in West Virginia will not disturb such rulings unless the lower court has abused its discretion. Syl. Pt. 3, *Daily Gazette Co. vs. W. Virginia Dev. Off.*, 206 W.Va. 51, 521 S.E.2d 543 (1999). In light of the evidence and its careful *Pitrolo* analysis, the lower court was well within its discretion in its *Order Granting Shirley Bowen's Motion for Attorney Fees*.

VIII. CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: The lower erred in its reduction of the punitive damage award by \$500,000.00 because CIT waived any duplication argument to the jury's award, because CIT's post-trial duplication argument directly contradicted CIT's submissions to the lower court, and because the lower court's jury instructions, taken together with the enactment of W.Va. Code § 55-7-29, eliminated the possibility of duplication.

During post-trial litigation, and for the first time, CIT claimed the jury's punitive damage award duplicated the jury's compensatory award on the intentional infliction claim under the holding in *Tudor v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 203 W. Va. 111, 506 S.E.2d 554 (1997). In its November 18, 2022, *Order Following Post-Trial Review of Punitive Damages*, the lower court reduced the jury's punitive damage award by \$500,000.00 to avoid the possibility of duplication.

The lower court erred in its reduction because CIT failed to timely raise the argument and contributed to and invited the issue about which it now complains. Further, no actual duplication occurred in light of the lower court's instructions to the jury and the Legislature's enactment of W. Va. Code § 55-7-29(a).

First, CIT failed to timely raise a claim of duplication. The first time that CIT raised a duplication objection appeared in CIT's post-trial filings. The lower court, in its review of the punitive damage award, found and concluded, "With respect to CIT's argument that the jury's award for punitive damages and the tort of outrage are duplicative, this Court would note that this issue was not previously raised by CIT prior to and/or during trial. The same was not asserted until the filing of post-trial motions." (J.A. 4359).

It is axiomatic that post-trial motions are not appropriate for presenting new legal arguments, factual contentions, or claims that could have previously been argued. *Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny, Moe & Jack*, 228 W. Va. 48, 56, 717 S.E.2d 235, 243 (2011). *See Otto v. Catrow Law, PLLC*, 243 W.Va. 709, 850 S.E.2d 708 (2020).

Second, CIT submitted filings, including jury instructions and a verdict form conceding that the jury may award compensatory damages together with punitive damages on the intentional infliction claim. (J.A. 1564, 1635, 1710-1711). CIT's jury instructions provided, "Of the claims asserted, [Ms. Bowen] can only recover punitive damages for slander of title, breach of fiduciary duties, *tort of outrage*, and abuse of process." (J.A. 1635) (emphasis added). The lower court, in its review of the punitive damage award, found and concluded,

Therefore, the Court FINDS that the very argument CIT now asserts directly contradicts what CIT presented to this Court for instruction of the jury. Likewise, the proposed verdict form presented to the Court by CIT contradicts CIT's assertion that the tort of outrage and the award for punitive damages are duplicative. (J.A. 4359).

The West Virginia Supreme Court has stated:

"Invited error" is a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide range of conduct. It is a branch of the doctrine of waiver which prevents a party from inducing an inappropriate or erroneous response and then later seeking to profit from that error. The idea of invited error... to protect principles underlying notions of judicial economy and integrity by allocating appropriate responsibility for the inducement of error. Having induced an error, a party in a normal case may not at a later stage of the trial use the error to set aside its immediate and adverse consequences.

State v. Crabtree, 198 W. Va. 620, 627, 482 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996); In re Tiffany Marie S., 196 W.Va. 223, 233, 470 SE.2d 177, 187 (1996) ("[W]e regularly turn a deaf ear to error that was invited by the complaining party." (citation omitted); Shamblin v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 183 W.Va. 585, 599, 396 S.E.2d 766 780 (1990) (finding "the appellant cannot benefit from the consequences of error it invited").

The West Virginia Supreme Court also addressed the issue:

The final matter which we address is Sheetz' request that this Court expend upon our recognition in *Mace v. Charleston Area Medical Center Foundation*, 188 W.Va. 57, 422 S.E.2d 624 (1992) and *Dzinglski v. Weirton Steel Corp.*, 191 W.Va. 278, 445 S.E.2d 219 (1994), that in those cases where emotional distress damages are sought and obtained without evidence of accompanying physical trauma, such

awards "may assume the cloak of punitive damages." *Harless v. First Nat'l Bank*, 169 W.Va. 673, 690, 289 S.E.2d 692, 702 (1982). While the record in this case suggests that the evidence introduced regarding Appellee's suffering of emotional distress may indeed have been meager, **Sheetz agreed to the jury instruction on emotional distress damages and jointly submitted the verdict form which expressly allowed the jury to consider punitive and emotional distress damages.** Accordingly, we decline to consider this issue when Sheetz did not raise the issue below for the trial court's consideration in the first instance.

Vandevender v. Sheetz, Inc., 200 W.Va. 561, 490 S.E.2d 678 (1997) (emphasis added).

Third, the lower court's instructions, together with the enactment of W. Va. Code § 55-7-29, further eliminated the possibility of duplication. The lower court properly instructed the jury, in accordance with the West Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions, that it was "not required to award punitive damages and any punitive damages that are awarded must be in addition to damages which are necessary to compensate Plaintiff for her injuries or losses." (J.A. 2251). The jury was aware, at the time of making its consideration, that it had the ability to, but was not required to, render a separate and independent punitive element to its compensatory damages award.

"Where a case has been submitted to a jury, an appellate court cannot presume that the jury did not understand or follow the clear import of the instructions given." *Dustin v Miller*, 180 W. Va. 186, 189, 375 S.E.2d 818, 821 (1988). To the contrary, "a jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions." *Showalter v. Binion*, No. 18-0128, 2019 WL 6998319, at 4* (W.Va. Dec. 20. 2019) (memorandum decision).

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